
ANDERSON TOWNSHIP ZONING COMMISSION
DECEMBER 15, 2025

The Anderson Township zoning Commission held a regular meeting, duly called, on December t5,2025,
at 5:30 P.M. Present were the following members:

Anne McBride, Chair, Susan Ward, Vice Chair and Jason Brewer, Alternate

Ms. McBride welcomed everyone and reminded all to sign in at the front of the doorway

Approval of Agenda

Approval of Minutes
Ms. McBride stated that quorum was not present to approve the minutes from the October 27, 2025
Zoning Commission meeting.

Ms. McBride swore in all those who wished to testify for the following quasi-.ludicial hearing.

CASE 1.2020 PUD MAJOR ADJUSTMENT

Mr. Drury stated that this is a quasi-judicial hearing for Case 1-2020 PUD Major Adjustment and read
the staff report for an application filed by Joshua Blatt, Member of Hickory Woods Development
Company, LLC, on behalf of Clous Anderson LLC, property owner, located at 1240 Nagel Road (Book 500,

Page 121, Parcel 158), zoned "E-PUD" Retail Planned Unit Development.

Mr. Drury stated that the applicant is requesting a Major Ad.justment to the approved Planned Unit
Development in Case 1-2020 PUD in order to construct a 7o-unit apartment complex. The applicant is

proposing 38 one-bedroom units and 32 two-bedroom units for a total density of 28.76 units per acre.
The applicant is proposing 127 parking spaces, and landscaping. The proposed impervious surface ratio
is 83.3%.

Mr. Drury stated the tract is 2.475 acres, with approximately 240' of frontage on Nagel Road, the
topography is relatively flat and the existing use is vacant land, used as overflow car dealership parking.

Mr. Drury stated that the applicant is proposing to construct an apartment building with 70 units,
including 38 one bedroom units and 32 two bedroom units, for a total density of 28.76 units/acre. The

footprint of the proposed building is 21,147 square feet. The building is proposed to be four stories, for
a total of approximately 84,588 square feet. The applicant is providing 127 parking spaces, cross access

to adjacent properties, landscaping, parking lot lighting, a dumpster enclosure and an overall impervious

Also, present when the meeting was called to order were Paul Drury, Director of Planning and ZoninB,

and Sarah Donovan, Assistant Director of Planning and Zoning. A list of citizens in attendance is attached.

Ms. Ward moved, Mr. Brewer seconded, to approve the agenda for tonight's meeting with no

modifications.
A unanimous vote was taken



Zoning Commission
December L5,2025
Page 2

surface ratio of 83.3%

Mr. Drury stated that the five former office buildings were constructed in 1982

Mr. Drury stated that an addition to the pole sign (located on Beechmont, adjacent to the driveway

accessing Anderson Pub and Grill and retail center) was approved in 1989, size 8' x 1l' ,6" .ln 1990 the
existing free-standing sign was a pproved for a lterations, size 6' x t7' , 6" . From 1989-2000 various
permits for face changes to the existing pole sign were approved. This pole sign, while advertising the

office buildings, was not located on that parcel.

Mr. Drury stated that the five former office buildings were demolished in 2018. New addresses were

assigned in 2020; from 8070 Beechmont Avenue to 1240 Nagel Road for Lot fi1 and 7246 Nagel Road for
Lot s2. (They have since been consolidated into one lot with the address of 1240 Nagel Road).

Mr. Drury stated that Case 1-2020 PUD was approved by the zoning Commission on February 24,2O2O,

for the construction of a 10,000 SF Medical Office Building on Lot fl and an 17,775 SF Day Care with an

outdoor playground on Lot #2. The approval also included a 20'panhandle connecting to Nagel Road,82
parking spaces, an ISR of 64% and a landscapinB plan compliant with the Anderson Township Zoning

Resolution. lt was never constructed and has been used as overflow parking for adjacent businesses.

Mr. Drury stated that the Zoning Commission heard Case 1-2020 PUD Major Adjustment for Carriage

Carwash on May 22,2023.fhe Zonlng Commission moved "to continue Case 1-2020 PUD Ma.ior

Adjustment, for the property located at 1240 and 1246 Nagel Road with the public hearing in progress

for additional information from the applicant and compliance with the Zoning Resolution."

Mr. Drury stated that on June 26,2023,the Zoning Commission approved Case 1-2020 PUD Major
Adjustment for Carriage Carwash, with four conditions including: 1. The property of 7240 and L246
Nagel shall be limited to the proposed free standing signage on Nagel Road, with a maximum height of
10'. No additional freestanding signage shall be permitted for this property. 2. That a lighting plan in

compliance with the Anderson Township Zoning Resolution shall be submitted for approval, and the
lights shall dim 30 minutes after closing. 3. That the submitted plans be revised to provide an ISR

calculation. 4. That the proposed CMU material shall be an integralcolor. The car wash was also never
constructed.

Mr, Drury stated that the Zoning Commission is reviewing the application because the proposed

development will have an impervious surface ratio Breater than 60%, which triggers the PUD overlay
and the standards found in Article 4.1 of the Zoning Resolution. The existing lsR of the site is 58.2% and

the applicant is proposing an increase in the lSR to 83.3%.

zoning Resolution Compliance
The proposed development is non-compliant with the following articles of the Anderson Township
zoning Resolution:



Zoning Commission
December 75,2025
Page 3

Article 3.14, C, 1- Height ReBulations: No building shall exceed three (3) stories or forty-five (45) feet in
he ight.
The applicant is proposing a 4 story building, 52'from the average grade to the highest parapet.

Article 3.14, C, 2, d, ii- lntensity of Use: Every lot of tract of land on which there is erected a two-family
dwelling or a multiple dwelling shall have a minimum width of fifty (50) feet at the building line and an

area of not less than three thousand (3,000) square feet per family, except that the area regulation shall

not apply to dormitories, fraternities, or sororities where no cooking is done in individual rooms or
apartments. Every lot on which there is erected a building for any other use permitted in "D" Residence

District shall have a minimum width of sixty (60) feet and a minimum area of ten thousand (10,000)

sq uare feet.
The applicant is proposing 70 units total, which is a density of 28.28 units per acre, whereas the
underlying "E" zoning District allows for 14.52 units per acre. With a site total of 2.475 acres, the
appli€ant would be permitted 35 units by right.

Article 5.3, D, 8- Dumpsters & Trash Handling Areas for Non-Single Family Districts:
d: Height and Construction of screen: Any fence or wall required under the Article shall have a height no
greater than eight feet and no less than five feet.
The applicant did not submit an elevation for the dumpster enclosure.

5.3, K: Lighting for Non-Single Family Uses

The applicant did not submit a lighting plan for the site.

Mr. Drury stated that in addition to compliance with the Township's Zoning Resolution, the
development is also being reviewed in light of adopted plans for this area, such as the Anderson Plan,

the Anderson Trails and Walkways Plan, and the Anderson Township Design Guidelines.

Mr. Drury stated that the proposal is consistent with the goals and objectives of the Anderson Plan and

its recommendations for enhancing economic activities. The Future Land Use classification identifies the
site for General Mixed Use, which is defined as "Community and reBional oriented businesses, offices,
and services that are located primarily along major thoroughfares. These uses may be located in
individual-user buildings, multi-tenant buildings, or mixed-use buildings. Buildings are encouraged to be

located close to the road with the majority of parking located to the side and rear of buildings.
Residential uses may be located in mixed-use buildings but should only be located on the second floors
or higher or behind nonresidential buildings." While the proposed development does not contain a

retail development, there are multiple businesses in front of the proposal that face Beechmont
Avenue. ln addition, the applicant is providing access into the shopping centers, creating connections
between the residential and commercial aspects of the greater area.

The application is consistent with the following Goals of the Anderson Plan:
Land Use and Development: Anderson Townshi p will be a well-planned community with a mixture of
parks, recreational uses, residential neighborhoods, commercial centers and an industrial base balanced



'Ay:ede: rarvras Surp.re8a: CSI Lllt/t1 suotlesJa^uof, ut Alluattn: sr luecrldde aq1 9
'uorlelrldde aql qlr/v\ pall[.!qns lou set uorlinJlsuo] ]o au!laultl V S

'alrs aqllo AlruDr^ aq1 ur lpado.rd;o luautanordLul pateurprool pue AllapJo pue lyado.rd
turpunorrns 1o uorpalord agenbape alqeua eaJe llalold aql Jo saJnlpal lelsfuld pue azrs aql ,

'sasn lrelar Surpunorns qll/vl alq!lpdruol sr Surp;rnq lualuupde ue ]o asn aql €
'a^oqe paurllno se ueld uosJapuv

aql lo sleog Surrnol;o; aqt ql!/v\ lualslsuol st uotleltldde eql ueld uoslapuv patdope all]
ur psurllno se saalsnJl ]o pleog aql lo sleog pue uolsrA aqt Ll]!M lualslsuol st uotlelrlddp aql z

'ssaursng

lrelau ,,1,, Jo lrJlsrp Suruoz SurA;.rapun qlr/rr tuatsrsuot st Sutpltnq luauUede pasodold aqf f
:(9 '1 9 e1:rpy) eualrl:

uorlenle^a luaudola^ac UUn pauueld arll uo paseq le^oldde spuauluolal JJeIS ]eql palels funJO .JW

al!s
s!ql Jo luaudola^apai aql ur papnllur aJe lle/tlaprs lrlqnd aql ol suorllauuol :uorlelnlJrJ ueulsapad

'lretap lensr^ ppe ol slq8raq 8urfue^

te sladeted a^eq ol pesodoJd sr Sutplnq aql saprs lle uo 'sleualeu turp[nq Jo aJn]xrur e suleluof
Surplrnq pasodord aq1 'Jolor pue 'sleualeu ro asn pue Jaq[!nu 'Sutltplap 'Sutsseu 'stxjoj leJn]la]lqlJe

Jo uorleraprsuor 1n;arer qSno:ql alef,s ueurnq e ol padola^ap aq plnoqs utrsap Surplrng Srnp-a1r11:ry
s8urpunorrns raql qu/v\ alEls ur aJe leql s8ullue1d aler.ldo:dde aletod Jolul :EurdEJspuet

'3ur1qBr1 pue'Surdelspuel 'a8eu8rs'3uruue1d alrs'arnlfalrqfre ol uorlualle
relnclped qSnorqt sa:eds ur alels upunq lo asuas pue Ja]3eleq: lensrn Surpel3dn SuluIEja-tl$

saurlaplng u8rsaO

alls aql punole slle/vlapls JolJalur osle ale alaql anua^V luoulqfaag Uo slleAlapls ol llauuof
leq] peou ;a8ery uo alrs aql,o aBeluor] aql Suole s1;ervraprs Surlsrxa a:e araql sl le/!1 pl uourqlaaE

ueld sl!erl uosrapuv

'Jalual 8ulddoqs e ol luaJefpe 8u!aq se llari\ se 'Jalua] 8ulddoqs pue tuernelsal e purqaq lqtp
palerol s! Apadord s1q1 drqsumol aqt ur sassaursnq leuor8ar pue lelol Uoddns ol papaau uorlelndod

]o sseur lelrlrJl aql aprAoJd dlaq ol'ropu]ol luor.]lqf,aag aql urql/!1sasn lerluaplsal alerodJolul € E Z
'peog la8ep Suole sasn puel

uaa,luaq uo!l!sueJl sssn se 3u!uaaJf,s ap!AoJd llr/$ srql'sluauruedE pasodord aql ueql asn &!sualu!
ranrol e s! 'Ja^a/vroq 'aruaplsal Al!uel-a;3u1s e 1ou sr r{llq/U\ 'quou aql ol AUadoJd luare[pE atll

ol Ja]lnq adelspuel lelluelsqns e SulsodoJd sr luerrldde aql sasn leuort.rsuell ]o tuatudolanap aq1 ro
sJa11nq adelspuel Surluaualdtur ,{q sasn ftrsualur raqBrq LUoJJ spooqJoqq8rau AlrureJ alBurs }laioJd I Z /

:saArlellru I u aul ola^aG pu pu e]

'peou lateN uo leltuaplsar Al!l.rlel alSu!s
pue le!f,Joruurof, Allsualu! Jar6ol ol anua^v luor.ur..llaag tuolp lllJls!p ssaulsnq aql [uoJl uorusuert

lelluaplsar e saleaJf, t! 'uoruppe ul 'sasn lelluaprsal pue llElal uaa/ntaq uo!]fauuoi e ro, i olle

llry\ anua^V luourqlaag ]o lJo lsnt palplol sllun luatluedB lo lesodoJd aq1 sasn;ern1|n:uBe qlrrvr

, aSed

szoz 'sI raqurerao
uorssrur.uoJ SuruoZ



Zoning Commission
December 75,2025
Page 5

7. There are no scenic or historicalfeatures, as identified or contained in plans duly adopted by the
Anderson Township Board of Township Trustees and Hamilton County Regional Planning
Commission, which would not be conserved.

8. Certain modifications of the zoning regulations may be warranted, such as the height of the
building and density, given the proximity to Beechmont Avenue.

9. The adequacy of the proposed pedestrian circulation system insulates pedestrian circulation
from vehicular movement.

10. The adequacy of the provisions for visual and acoustical privacy. The applicant is proposing a

landscaping buffer to the north, and is adjacent to commercial and office to the east and south.
11. The development does not include dedicated open space.

12. The development will not be detrimental to the present and potential surrounding uses.

13. The applicant is communicatinB with the Hamilton County Engineer's Office to determine what
will be required. ln addition, a stormwater detention will be provided underground. The
applicant is also working with MSD on sewer availability.

14. The development is consistent with the Vision and Goals as adopted by the Anderson Township
Board of Trustees.

15. The site does not contain land over 20% slope and is not located in the floodplain.

Variance Standards
The property in question may not yield a reasonable return and there may not be any beneficial
use of the property without the variance. The property has been vacant since 2018 and the two
previously approved PUD plans have not moved forward.
The variance is substantial. staff is of the opinion that the variance for density and height could
be substantial if the applicant was not providing the landscaping screening or the potential for
the parapets to screen roof utilities, as well as making the building look visually appealing to
the surrounding neighborhood. While the applicant is requestinB a 4 story structure,
Stonegate apartments off of Nagel Road are three and a half stories, which sit farther away
from Beechmont Avenue. ln addition, the Comprehensive Plan calls for a mixture of housing
opportunities and with the proposed height and density variances, the applicant is proposing
a housing type which is needed in the Township.
The essential character of the neighborhood would be substantially attered or whether adjoining
properties would suffer a substantial detriment as a result of the variance. Adloining properties
will not suffer a substantial detriment since the applicant is proposing a substantial
landscaping buffer. This property is also a transition from commercial uses on Beechmont to
single-family uses north on Nagel. Permitted heights in the "E" retail district are 45', and the
applicant is requesting 52'from the average grade to the highest parapet.
The variance would not adversely affect the delivery of governmental services (i.e. water, sewer,
garbage). The applicant is working with MSD on sewer capacity.
The property owner purchased the property with knowledge of the zoning restrictions. The
applicant is under contract to purchase the property and is aware of the Zoning restrictions
and requirements.
The property owner's predicament can be feasibly obviated through some method other than a

L

2

3

4

5

6



Zoning Commission
December 75,2025
Page 6

Mr. Drury stated that if approved, staff recommends the following condition:
1. Bike racks should be added in a strategic location to serve residents and visitors to the site.
2. Approval from the Hamilton County Engineers Office on any roadway / access improvements

shall be received prior to issuance of a zoning certificate.

Ms. ward asked if staff knew where Subaru was going to go. Mr. Drury replied that the Zoning
Commission has already approved a parking lot expansion for Subaru in anticipation that this parcel will
be developed.

Mr. Brewer asked if there was a traffic study done yet. Mr. Drury replied that the applicant can answer
that question.

Ms. McBride asked if stormwater will be underground. Mr. Drury responded yes, but that the applicant
can ela borate.

Ms. McBride asked where the closest four-story building is in the area. Mr. Drury replied that
Stonegate is three stories, and Vantage is higher than both.

Josh Blatt, ofJohn Henry Homes, 11025 Reed Hartman Highway, provided an overview of his company,
John Henry Homes which he co-owns with his brother. He stated that they are currently under
construction on 36-unit townhomes on Eight Mile Road, which are currently framed out. He stated that
they are long term owners, meaning they hold on to their projects and community manage them. Mr.
Blatt introduced MSP Deslgn and TRA design who is working on this project with them. He stated that
the sellers of this property have had it listed for over five years and have not been able to find anyone
who is able to put a viable plan together. He stated that their attraction to this site was the proximity to
Beechmont and the ability to use public transportation. He stated that their plan is 70 upscale units,
and described the design of the apartments. He stated that they have started the conversation with the
Hamilton County Engineer and hired Caroline Duffy to conduct a traffic study. He stated that he is
aware that people worry about tenants, but that they have very strict credit checks for applicants and

criminal background checks.

variance. The applicant has stated that the variance for density is the only way to make an
apartment building work on a limited amount of acreage. This property has had two previous

PUDS that have not moved forward.
7. The spirit and intent behind the zoning requirement would be observed and substantialjustice

done by granting the variance. A variance for the height and density could uphold the zoning
requirement if the additional height for the upper parapet is used to shield utilities on the
roof.

Ms. McBride asked if they will be required to dedicate right of way. Mr. Drury replied that they are
waiting to hear from the County.



Zoning Commission
December 75,2025
Page 7

Ms. McBride stated that she needed to disclose that about 25 years ago she represented John Henry
Homes, but feels that she can remained unbiased. Mr. Brewer and Ms. Ward stated that they are fine
to proceed.

Mr. Brewer asked if they know what price point they are considering for rent. Mr, Blatt replied $1,600
for a one-bedroom unit and S1,800 for a two-bedroom unit.

Mr. Brewer asked how public transportation applies to this site and that the nearest to pick up is at
Kroger. Mr. Blatt replied that from his understanding, there are pick-up stops on Nagel.

Mr. Brewer asked how this product differs from the townhomes on Eight Mile. Mr. Blatt replied that
the townhomes are three bedrooms, two and a half baths, and garages and are targeted to someone
who really wants a house but doesn't want the responsibility of maintenance. Whereas this is a

different tenant profile.

Mr. Brewer stated that he is concerned about residents of this four-story building overlooking the
playground at Goddard and how can those concerns be eased. Mr. Blatt replied that a three story
would have the same result, but that they are going to landscape buffer in the best way that they can,
however, trees won't grow fast enough. He said probably the biggest reassurance is trusting the history
of their company and that they do the most thorough background checks that they can.

Mr. Brewer asked if three stories was considered or is a possibility. Mr. Blatt replied, honestly no, with
the underground detention, even a four-story building makes it economically challenging.

Ms. Ward asked why townhomes weren't viable on this site. Mr. Blatt replied that with the easements
for cross access on this site, it just wouldn't work. Townhomes are typically dead-end streets, whereas
this has multiple entry points and is braced by two pubs.

Ms. Ward is concerned about additional traffic on the street between the post office and Goddard. Mr.
Blatt stated that multi-family does not tend to have a lot of traffic, sometimes morning traffic, but it will
probably be less than a carwash which was previously approved.

Ms. Ward asked how they would compete with Vantage Apartments. Mr. Blatt stated that there is a

certain group of people that the large apartment complex is not attractive to. He stated that they are
going for someone who wants to live somewhere long term and anchored. He stated that their rent is
also far less than Vantage.

Ms, Ward asked if the materials would hold up. Mr. Blatt replied, yes, that Riverwalk in Milford is 11
years old and that they as a company spend a lot of money to maintain their properties to make them
attractive.

Ms, McBride asked to confirm that there are no outdoor amenities. Mr. Blatt replied that there are



Zoning Commission
December 75,2025
Page 8

sidewalks on Beechmont and Nagel, where there are parks and restaurants. They feel like the attraction
is Beechmont and proximity to the highway.

Ms. McBride stated that some of the landscaping materials are not actually screening materials and
should be switched to arborvitae or non'deciduous trees and stated that she is concerned that there is
no landscaping proposed along the streetscape. Ms. McBride also asked for clarification on the right-of-
way dedication.

Jim Watson, MSP, 3700 Park 42 Orive, stated that the property to the north and south have forty feet of
right of way, and they are currently showing thirty feet, which will make them twenty feet from the right
of way. Ms. McBride asked Mr. Drury to confirm that if they do have to make it twenty feet, they will
have to come back before the Zoning Commission, Mr. Drury replied yes.

Luke Perry,8133 Pineterrace Drive, stated that his concern is that Vantage is not fully occupied and he

is concerned about this one not being fully occupied and becoming a blight to the community. He

stated that he is happy to hear that John Henry Homes maintains ownership of their buildings. He

stated in his opinion he is glad its multifamily and not retail. He asked how many properties John Henry
Homes owns and how many they have sold in the last ten years.

Max Harmon,7878 Eglington, stated that he works in commercial development and stated that his
focus is on retail development and was surprised to see that this development is consistent with this
area. He stated that multifamily developments have a purpose in Anderson Township, however, not in
this location. He stated that it will be too dense for this site with no amenities. He stated that
ultimately, his main concern is access and proximity to the traffic light. He stated that they have access

to the signal further east, which would alleviate some of the concerns on Nagel. He stated that he

believes site line will be impeded by the proximity of the building to Nagel Road.

Steve Wood,8109 Pineterra€e Drive, stated that he appreciates the developer considering Anderson
but doesn't agree with this site. He stated that the traffic at Nagel and Beechmont is already terrible.
He stated that they are going to need to look at that intersection. He stated that when Stonegate was

evaluated, they considered expanding to three lanes, but that didn't happen. He stated that the height
of thebuildingwill take awayfrom neighborhood feel of thecommunity. He stated that the current
zoning lends itself better to a dentaloffice or somethin8 medical and he doesn't understand why that
type of development hasn't worked-

Sean Anderson,8067 Pineterrace Drive, stated that they are the third house in on Pineterrace and he

would have a direct view from the back of his house. He added that he is not opposed to multi-family
development, but asked if it really needs to be a four-story building in this location. He stated his

concerns over traffic and the intersection of Nagel and Beechmont Avenue.

Eddy Mccarthy,8114 Pineterrace Drive, stated that he likes that this is being considered for the
Township. He stated that it looks like the access to the north from bank is being closed off. He asked if



Zoning Commission
December L5,2025
Page 9

the location ofthe building has been reconsidered. He stated that he would like additional information
about traffic and sees this plan is still a little half baked. He stated that this site should be reconsidered
closer to the zoning requirement. He asked if fire and EMS have looked at this plan. He stated that he

thinks everyone would feel more comfortable if there is additional information from the county.

Mr. Blatt stated that his father has been doing this for 65 years and the only thing his father sold was
transition properties into something more upscale. He stated that he has never sold anything and own
over 2,000 units. He stated that they are aware Vantage's rentals have been slow, but they feel like they
are going after a different type of tenant and are not planning to be in the high rent field Vantage is in.

He stated that Stonegate has done historically well and they are planning on being along the same line
as them. He added that regarding the privacy and concern for Goddard, he would like to work with Mr.
Reinhart to meet the concerns and safety for the children. He stated that one of his apartments, which
has over 400 units, has a daycare which was built after the apartment was finished.

Mr. Brewer asked if moving the building to the right was ever considered. Mr. Watson replied that they
did look at slidin8 it to the east would make the curb cut almost on top of the building. He stated that
they would likely lose the parking spaces if they run into right-of-way issues.

Ms. McBride asked if there is an easement to Goddard. Mr. Watson replied that they are aware of one
easement for the telephone tower, however, they aren't aware of one for the maintenance shed, but
they will look into it and figure it out.

The public hearing was closed at 5:45 PM.
DECIStON

Ms. McBride moved, Ms. Ward seconded to continue Case 1-2020 PUD Major Adjustment for the
property of 1240 Nagel Road, known as Nagel Road apartments for additional information including:

- A recommendation from the Hamilton County Engineer including details on what will need to
be included in the traffic study.

- An updated landscaping plan to provide additional screening to adjacent properties.

- Consideration of a different building placement on the site, outdoor amenities and a

reduction in heiBht.

Mark Reinhart, 1280 Nagel Road, Owner of the Goddard School, stated that their outdoor classroom
touches the northern border of this site. He stated that they serve students starting at 6 weeks old. He

stated that he isn't in favor or opposed but that he does have a safety concern in terms of
inappropriately viewing children. He stated that it would be interestinB to see the perspective from the
backof their lot to this four-story building and that maybe it's not as big of a deal as he is thinking. He

stated that the other concern is people approaching the children from the parking lot. He stated that
they have a double access gate at the north end of the property where parking spaces are currently
located on the site plan and that they really need to maintain access to that gate. He stated that he is
glad that it isn't proposed to be another preschool.



Zoning Commission
December 15,2025
Page 10

A unanimous vote was taken. (3 Yeas)

CASE 2.2018 ANDERSON MAJOR MODIFICATION

Mr, Drury stated that this is a public hearing for 2-2018 Anderson Major Modification and read the staff
report for an application filed by Brian Doyle, Property Manager of NF Properties, on behalf of NF Skytop
Properties LLC property owner, located at 5230 Beechmont Avenue (Book 500, Page 430, Parcel 205),
zoned "EE' Planned Retail Business.

Mr. Drury stated the tract is 1.98 acres (Big Ash Property), with approximately 219' of frontage on
Beechmont Avenue, the topography is a very steep slope in the southernmost portion and the
remainder is relatively flat and the existing use is a Micro-brewery (Big Ash).

Mr. Drury stated that the previous shopping center was issued a zoning certificate in 1999 for a 56,200
SF shopping center with two stand-alone commercial buildings. A variance was granted in 1999 for a 30'-
3" tall, L87 .5 SF free-standing sign. Various permits were issued throughout the years for wall signage,

temporary signage, and temporary tents for garden sales. Prior to the construction of the SkWop

Pavilion, the property was used as the former El Rancho Rankin motel.

Mr. Drury stated that on 06/21,/2018, the Anderson Township Trustees a pproved a zone cha nge for
5220,5222, and 5230 Beechmont Avenue, containing !7.894 acres, from "A" Residence, "E" Retail, and
"H" Riverfront to "EE" Planned Retail District, to raze an existing 125,000 square foot shopping center to
construct nine, 3-story apartment buildings towards the northern portion of the site and one 1-story
outlot commercial building at 10,640 square feet near the eastern-most entrance of the development.

Mr. Drury stated rhat on LZ|79/2O18, a zoning Certificate was issued for a change of use from a

restaurant to a micro-brewery (Big Ash) that included a new deck, size 67'-6" x 20', however the deck

was never constructed.

Mr. Drury stated that the applicant is requesting a major modification to the Final Development Plan for
Case 2-2018 Anderson to add a pick-up window with a drive lane to an existing building, removing 7
parking spaces, and adding an exterior walk-in cooler.

Mr. Drury stated that the applicant is proposing a 9' x 30' addition incorporating a walk-in cooler and a
pick-up window, along with a new drive lane, which will eliminate seven (7) existing parking spaces on
the west side of the building. The walk-in cooler will be finished with siding and paint consistent with the
existinB building. The pick-up window is intended for order pick-up; no order-window box is proposed.
lnstead, a call button and/or sensor loop will be installed to alert staff when customers arrive at the
window. The applicant has also removed the shed previously located adjacent to the deck on the west
side and will install a concrete pad to connect an existing concrete pad to the existing sidewalk.



Zoning Commission
December 15,2025
Page 11

Mr. Orury stated that on 70/28/2019, the Zoning Commission approved Case 2-2018 Anderson FDP,

Phase I for the commercial outlots on the property. The Final Development Plan (Phase l) included two
existing commercial buildings and the construction of a new 1 story commercial building, size 10,640 SF,

117 parking spaces, lighting and landscaping modifications. The Final Development Plan also contains
the previously approved change of use for Big Ash.

Mr. Drury stated that on LO/26/2Q20, the Zoning Commission approved a Major Modification to the
Final Development Plan for Case 2-2018 Anderson to increase the size of an approved deck by
approximately 935 SF (35' x 62'), a roof over the deck, an 8' x 8' grill enclosure and patio addition, and a

cigar hut (accessory structure). The deck expansion, roof, grill enclosure, and cigar hut were never
constructed.

Mr. Drury stated lhal on 04/26/2021, Zoning Commission approved Case 2-2018 FDP Skytop Phase llto
demolish the existing 124,760 SF structure and construct a one four-story structure, approximately
363,2925t, with 361 residential units.

Mr. Drury stated that between 2024 and 2025, Big Ash installed a (23' x 91') patio on the eastern side of
their building without a zoning certificate, removing L1 parking spaces.

Mr. Drury stated that the following are the conditions set in RESOLUTION #18-0621-02 on O6/2L/2OL8:
1. That a landscaping plan that meets the mlnimum standards of the Zoning Resolution shall be

submitted as part of the Final Development Plan.

2. That a lighting plan that meets the minimum standards of the Zoning Resolution shall be

submitted as part of the Final Development Plan.

3. That a pedestrian connection separated from vehicular traffic in raised-curb areas or landscaped
areas shall be identified through the site connecting to the existing sidewalk along Beechmont
Avenue adjacent and east of the site and that a connection shall be made from each multi-
family and commercial building entrance to this sidewalk.

4. That all requirements ofthe Ohio Department ofTransportation shall be met.
5. That all buildings do not exceed a maximum building height of 37.5' (variance).

6. That bicycle parking spaces shall be provided as required in Section 5.3 (D) (17) (A) of the
Anderson Township Zoning Resolution.

7. That all signage shall comply with Section 5.5 of the Anderson Township zoning Resolution.

Mr. Drury stated that the following are the conditions set in RESOLUTION #2019-1028-02 (Final

Development Plan Phase ll on L0/28/2079:
1. That the dumpster encloser be constructed with brick to match the exterior of the building.
2. A photometric plan compliant with Article 5.3, K, of the Anderson Township zoning Resolution

sha ll be re-submitted.
3. That bicycle parking spaces shall be provided complaint to Article 5.3, D, 9 of the Anderson

Township Zoning Resolution.
4. That all signage complies with Article 5.5 of the Anderson Township Zoning Resolution.



Zoning Commission
December 75,2025
Paee t2

Mr. Drury stated that the following are the conditions set in RESOLUTION #2020-1026-01 (Major
Modification to the Final Development Plan) on LOIZ6/2O2O:

1. All previous conditions of approval from Case 2-2018 Anderson FDP, as well as the underlying
requirements of the Zoning resolution, shall still apply to the site.

2. Future expansions will be subject to Article 5.1, C of the Zoning Resolution, General
Development Plan Provisions.

3. The maximum height of the new deck structure is to be limited to 26'.
4. The firewood that is to be located on the new patio adjacent to the grilling area is to be

screened from view from the street and parking area.

zoning Resolution compliance
The proposed development plan is compliant with the Anderson Township Zoning Resolution except for
the following:

Article 5.3, E, 2 (Table 5,7): Parking for the three commercial outlets was calculated as a "Shopping
Center" which requires 4 spaces per 1,000 square feet.
The original Final Development Plan was approved with 117 parking spaces where 81 was required.
The additional 270 square feet requires 1 parking space which is still below the total provided. A
shared parking agreement is in place for all three commercial outlots. However, the applicant's
submittal does not show the approved strip center for tot 3 (C), making the parking count inaccurate.

Article 5.3, H, 1(Table 5.10): The minimum stacking space requirement is (8) spaces from the pick-up
window measured under Restaurant.
The proposed (4) stacking spaces meets this requirement as they are not proposing an Order Window
box, only a Pick-up Window. Cited in lllustrotion 5.11: Vehicle Stocking Spoces

Article 5.3, D,9: Bicycle Parking: All non-residential uses shall contain two bicycle parking spaces, with
locking accommodations and placed within reasonable access to the main entrance, for each 50 parking

spaces.

ln 2019, for the Final Development Plan, the Zoning Commission conditioned that bike racks be placed

on all three of the parcels. Big Ash has not met this condition.

Article 5.3, D,4: Parking Requirements for Persons with Disabilities: Applicants must provide parking

spaces for individuals with physical disabilities in accordance with the Ohio Basic Building Code,

including all required markings, striping, and signage.

Mr. Drury stated that the application is consistent with the goals and objectives of the Anderson Plan

and its vision area, goals, and recom mendations. Specifically, the application is consistent with the
following Goals of the Anderson Plan:

Economic Health: Attract and promote local, non-chain businesses and restaurants, and encourage local

entrepreneurialefforts (3.2). Support the expansion of nonresidential uses provided they are compatible



Zoning Commission
December 15,2025
Page 13

with adjacent land uses and are designed to respect the environment (3.5)

Design Guidelines
Drive-Th rouEhs: Drive throughs should be located at the side or rear of the building and avoid facing
public or private roadways

Mr. Drury stated that staff recommends approval of the Major Modification to add a pick-up window
with a drive lane to an existing building and adding an exterior walk-in cooler.

1. The proposal is consistent with the cond itions of the approving resolution for the development
and the underlying "EE" Planned Retail Business District zoning.

2. The proposed modifications are compatible with the site and surrounding uses.

3. The development is served adequately and efficiently by essential public facilities and services,

which are already in existence.
4. The modifications allow for the applicant to realize a reasonable profit from the property.

Mr. Drury stated that this approval shall be based on the following conditions:
1. All previous conditions of approva I from Case 2-2018 Anderson FDP, as well astheunderlying

requirements of the Zoning resolution, shall still a pply to the site.
2. Future expansions will be subject to Article 5.1, C of the Zoning Resolution, General

Development Plan Provisions.

3. The applicant install bicycle racks as stated in RESOLUTION #2OL9-1O28-O2.

4. The applicant shall comply with Article 5.3, D, 4 (Parking Requirements for Physically Disabled).
5. The applicant shall submit new site plans that include the proposed shopping center from Case

2-2018 Final Development Plan to line up the parking spaces that were submitted and approved
as well as show the proposed landscape islands in Parcel's 1 (A) and 2 (B) as shown in Case 2-
2018 Fina I Development Plan.

6. The applicant shall submit revised plans clarifying an accurate parking count.

Mr, Brewer asked about the status of the patio and if it should have a permit. Mr. Drury replied that
there is no structure on the patio, so a building permit would not be required, however, a Zoning
Certificate would be.

Ms. McBride asked if the cooler enclosure material was submitted
can speak to that.

Mr. Drury replied that the applicant

Ms. McBride stated that she worked for LaRosa's a number of years a8o but feels like she can be

unbiased. Mr. Brewer and Ms. ward confirmed that they are fine with proceeding.

Ben Novosel, lnsomnia, Architect for the applicant, 1415 North Ft. Thomas Avenue, stated that the
owner of the building is separate than the owner of Big Ash and what was submitted is what exists

today. He added that no one that worked on the patio is present today. He stated that LaRosa's is

moving into the kitchen area and are expanding it to be full service. He stated that they are removing



Zoning Commission
December 75,2025
Page 14

part of the stage in order to make room. He stated that it's not two tenants but more so two uses
occupying one space. He stated that operationally, the exterior cooler is a necessity. He stated that the
exterior will match the building to the greatest extent possible. He stated that they have no issue
adding the parking islands, but that only about two and a half of them are on their property. He stated
that this isn't a traditional drive thru window, there is no menu board and that the point is that the
customer has already ordered, paid and is just picking up.

Mr. Brewer restated that he is not concerned about the covered patio as long as it has been properly
permitted.

Ms. McBride stated that the pick up window is a common concept now and asked if the patio that it is in
the parking spaces is proposed to stay. Mr. Nobels replied that they would prefer to keep and that they
would be willing to go through another process in order to keep it.

Ms. McBride asked if the same process of Big Ash self service is staying. Mr. Nobels replied that as far
as he knows that the bar side is remaining the same.

Ms. McBride asked if there is an updated signage plan. Mr. Nobels replied that it has not yet been
determined how they are going to co-brand them.

Ms. McBride asked if the landscaping islands were part of the previously approved plans. Mr. Drury
replied, yes, and that staff has .iust been going off of when individual parcels redevelop, then they are
required to bring everything into compliance.

Matt Feigelso, NAI Bergman,4695 Lake Forest Dr, property manager for Woodstone Holdings since
2016, owner of Parcels 1 and 3 of the Skytop Development. He stated that when Woodstone Holdings
previously owned parcel 2, the tenant, Big Ash, removed parking spaces without permission. He quoted
the cross easement that runs with the land for parking agreements and how they oppose that Big Ash is
now desiring to remove additional spaces. He stated that it is unfair that Big Ash continuing to remove
parking spaces will negatively impact parcels 1, 3, and 4.

The public hearing was closed at 7:23 PM.

Ms. McBride moved, Ms. Ward seconded to approve Case 2-2018 Anderson Major Modification, for
the property of 5230 Beechmont Avenue. also known as Big Ash Brewery, as recommended by staff,
and approving the outdoor patio on the east side of the building with the following conditions: 1-6 of
the staff report.

A unanimous vote was taken. (3 Yeas)

DECtSTON



Zoning Commission
December L5,2025
Page 15

CASE 1.2025 PUD MAJOR ADJUSTMENT

Mr. Drury stated that this is a quasi-judicial hearing for 1-2025 PUD Major Adjustment and read the staff
report for an application filed by Chad Mayes, P.E. of Kimley Horn, on behalf of U-Haul, on behalf of
AREC 6 LLC, property owner, located at 8210 Beechmont Avenue (Book 500, Page 041, Parcel 199),
zoned "E-PUD" Retail Business Planned Unit Development.

Mr. Drury stated that the applicant is requesting a Major Adjustment to a Planned Unit Development
(PUD) approval. The applicant is requesting to remove the condition that the 20' x 40' canopy be
constructed of a standing seam metal, not fabric placed in Resolution 2O25-0623-0L.

Mr, Drury stated the tract is 2.1.55 acres, with approximately 200' of frontage on Beechmont Avenue,
the topography is relatively flat, and the existinB use is U-Haul.

Mr. Drury stated that the applicant is requesting to remove condition #6 which states "That the canopy
be constructed of a standing seam metal, not fabric" placed in Resolution 2025-0623-01,. The applicant is

requesting to install a fabric canopy, size 20' x 40', to be located in the front yard area, detached from
the main building. The applicant has also submitted revised plans incorporating the other conditions.

Mr. Drury stated that the building on the property was constructed in 1970 and according to the
Hamiton County Auditor website was purchased by U-Haul in 1984, and the current owner in 2006

Mr. Drury stated that the applicant expanded the parking area by approximately 18'-28'to the east and
8' to the north in September 2024. The expansion occurred in conjunction with a parking lot repair. This
lncreased the ISR of the property from 80% to 84%. Pavement was also added into the 10' required
setback adjacent to the residential properties to the north, however, has since been removed back to
within the required 10' setback.

Mr. Drury stated that an application for the parking expansion was submitted for the March 2025
Zoning Commission meeting, however, it was continued at the applicant's request to include a 20'x40'
steel canopy with a fabric top, to be attached to the front of the building. The canopy was proposed

over an existing drop-off area for trucks and equipment.

Mr. Drury stated that the Zoning Commission approved the PUD on 6/23/2025, with the following
cond itions:

1. Additionallandscaping shall be installed to fill in the gaps along the new parking area to the
north to provide a visual screening to the residential properties with 6'-8' arborvitae, while
leaving a gap for the neighbor's gate to the north.

2. That an easement/right of entry be provided to the Township for the construction of a future
sidewalk along Beechmont Avenue, per the recommendations of the Anderson Trails Plan

adopted September 7 ,2023.
3. That a revised site plan be submitted to include the parking expansion and canopy on the same



Zoning Commission
December 75,2025
Page 16

Mr. Drury stated that the ZoninB Commission is reviewing the application because the ISR on the site
was increased and the previous impervious surface ratio was greater than 60%, which triggers the PUD

overlay and the standards found in Article 4.1 of the Zoning Resolution. Any adjustment to the PUD Plan

within the criteria of Article 4.1 but not authorized by Article 4.1,1 shall be considered a major
adjustment.

Mr. Drury stated that the request to remove condition #5 should be evaluated in light of adopted plans

for this area, such as the Anderson Plan, Beechmont Plan, and the Anderson Township Design
G uidelines.

Anderson Plan
The proposal is consistent with the goals and objectives of the Anderson Plan and its recommendations
for enhancing economic activities. The Future Land Use classification identifies the site for General
Mixed Use, which is defined as "Community and regional oriented businesses, offices, and services that
are located primarily along major thoroughfares. These uses may be located in individual-user buildings,
multi-tenant buildin8s, or mixed-use buildings. Buildings are encouraged to be located close to the road
with the ma.iority of parking located to the side and rear of buildings. Residential uses may be located in
mixed-use buildings but should only be located on the second floors or higher or behind nonresidential
buildings." The proposed use meets this description.

Mr. Drury stated that the application is consistent with the following Goals of the Anderson Plan

Economic Vitality: The Townshi p should attract a variety of businesses to meet changing demographics
and market demands. With a focus on an expanded tax base with an increasing amount of land
developed for a mixture of non-residential uses, this will attract new businesses and promote and retain
existing businesses.

Land Use and Develooment: Anderson Townshi p will be a well-planned community with a mixture of
parks, recreational uses, residential neighborhoods, commercialcenters and an industrial base balanced
with agricultura I uses.

Beechmont Plan
U-Haul is located in Neighborhood Five which recommends the following (p. 60)
- Facades that identifu individualtenant spaces
- Substantial, quality building materials

Design Guidelines
The following elements of the Anderson Design Guidelines are recommended (p. 33)

pla n.

4. That the existing two dumpsters be enclosed and meet the Zoning Resolution requirements.
5. That no equipment, including trailers, be located within the 10' rear yard setback requirement.
6. That the canopy be constructed of a standing seam metal, not fabric.



Zoning Commission
December 75, 2025
Page 17

DESIGN GUIDELINES
. Location. Where awnings are used, both fixed or retractable, they should be an integral element

of the architecture. Awnings should be located directly over windows or doors to provide
protection from the elements, and maintained in working condition.

. Materials. Awnings and canopies should not be made of highly reflective materials. Their colors
should complement the facade of the building.

. Design Elements- Graphics used on awnings for identification or advertising should be designed
as an integral part of the signage for the property, and be coordinated with other sign elements
in terms of typeface, color, and spacing.

Mr. Drury stated that if approved, staff recommends the following conditions from the previous

resolution remain:
1. Additional landscaping shall be installed to fill in the gaps along the new parking area to the

north to provide a visual screening to the residential properties with 6'-8'arborvitae, while
leaving a gap for the neighbor's gate to the north.

2. That an easement/right of entry be provided to the Township for the construction of a future
sidewalk along Beechmont Avenue, per the recommendations of the Anderson Trails Plan

adopted September 7, 2023.
3. That a revised site plan be submitted to include the parking expansion and canopy on the same

pla n.

4. That the existing two dumpsters be enclosed and meet the Zoning Resolution requirements.
5. That no equipment, including trailers, be located within the 10' rear yard setback requirement.

Ms. Ward asked what problem U-Haul is trying to solve. Ms. McBride replied that they are trying to
modify a condition placed by the Commission at the last meeting.

Ms. McBride stated that her firm works with Kimley Horn, but on the public side, she has not worked
directly with them. Ms. Ward and Mr. Brewer replied that they are ok to proceed,

Mark Quinn,3628 Oxford U-Haul, stated that he would like to request a continuation until lanuary in
order to have a full board.

The next regular meeting would be held on January 26, 2026, at 5:30 p.m. at Anderson Center
The meeting was adjourned at 7:28PM

Respectfully submitted,

Acting Chair

AWNINGS & CANOPIES

OBJECTIVES: When properly installed and maintained, awnings and canopies can enhance the
appearance and function of a building by providing shade, shelter, shadow patterns, and visual interest.
Where awnings are used, they should complement the design, materials, and color of the building.



ANDERSON TOWNSHIP ZONING COMMISSION
SIGN-IN SHEET

MONDAY, DECEMBER 15,2025 AT 5:30 P.M.
ANDERSON CENTER,7850 FIVE MILE ROAD

PLEASE PRINT . THANK YOU
NANIE: ADDRESS:

M^ttl..- €osl-.,-- qbq{ 1.G. a*t Dr
l:7-"-/ Z1^- /1c"Lj /",/* 6*-s f 't),.

u{ 1z.kv- Ae .rtrfuJ1 t(4 \ PrrE9u-uff L]-)'a,4\3bl ll(fr (?A *4,",. hfo.-

il,,-ro*(<At*y'\ru7;t,- t?ror.l+svz €r>
t4* Pk €E t ^t 

+n* f < 
" 
*o.,rt"x',1 lz?:o *lrc,el PD

lu,ua Paw<v aBA P F^rEftuUt-/)<-x D,r?.

B* u[v*.i l'it1 N Grllkvrar A"t

€h,,,ru,,4 fln1 Q,*J,*.,,
lL,)'-1"*?e\ 7""k

,.1
,//?zz1

3r'^^, --R/<
7d?q E.l,a,r-',l.o4

.- t 
^-lV-1t1<

U

r/1,47 ho
l,///a//z_

lYl"l l,l,^ rvtl a rz'1

a*,fte-H*,"e.
" /,)t-LDL;K---/


